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PREFACE

The circumstances which brought about the archeological investigation described
in this report are unusual. The five properties on the Fraunces Tavern block
were threatened with demolition for several months before the Conservancy
acquired them in May of 1978. The purchase was made possible with the assis-

.tance of The Vincent Astor Foundation and Warner Communications, Inc. The

buildings are part of a designated historic district in lower Manhattan
which comprises a single block, located on Pearl and Water Streets between
Broad Street and Coenties Slip. The Conservancy's properties face the Slip,
and are located on the site of what is believed to be the earliest landfill
in New York City. The buildings, vernacular commercial structures built as
warehouses beginning in the 1830's, and expanded throughout the nineteenth
century, are currently undergoing restoration. The Conservancy selected a
developer who has signed a long-term net lease for the buildings, and is
converting them to apartments on the upper floors and commercial space on
the ground floor. 1In early 1982, the apartments will be ready for occupancy.

The Conservancy sensed that a great and rare opportunity to learn about the
daily lives of early New Yorkers existed when the buildings were vacant and

a developer was being sought: Our planning for the dig began when we had
secured the properties. An historic structures report completed by The
Ehrenkrantz Group in 1979 described the rich cultural resources which may

have been beneath the buildings; and recommended that further archeological
investigations be carried out. The Conservancy raised funds for the -archeology
project, and sponsored the,dig beneath the most stable of the five buildings,
34 Water Street/64 Pearl Street, in the early spring of 1980.

The New York State Council on the Arts provided $4,000.00 to match a grant-in-aid
of $4,970.00 awarded to.the Conservancy and administered by the New York State
Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation. We are very appreciative
for the support and cooperation of these public funding sources. In addition,

we are proud of the excellent efforts of the consoltant team, led by Nan A.

_Rothschild and Arncld Pickman.

New York Landmarks Conservancy
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INTRODUCTION

Background (figure 1)

64 Pearl Street - 34 Water Street is a six story trapezoidal brick
building, built in 1858 and located in lower Manhattan; New York City, in
a2 block bounded by Pearl, Broad and Water Streets and Coenties Slip. The
block has been designated an Historic District and is listed on the National
Register of Historic Places. It comprises 16 structures, all dating f;;m
the earl& to middle 19th century, except for one late 19th century struc-
ture. The best known building, the Fraunces Tavern, is an early 20th

century reconstruction of an 18th centﬁry building.

In 1979, the New.York Landmarks Conservancy and the Sons of the

Revolution, owners of the majority of these strudiures, were planning the

restoration of the éastern half of the block {those on the western half
having previously been restored). Since the restoration would necessarily
involve some disturbance of the original ground surface on which the
buildings were constructed, known to be very earl} land fill, the Landmarks
Conéervénéy recognized that there would be an impact on potentially signifi-

cant archaeological resources. Therefore, they contacted one of the authors
’ (1)
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(N, Rothscﬁild)-to arrange aﬁ evaluation of some portisn of the archﬁeologi-
acal«depogits to be 3ffected,

;The plans available at the time of excavaticn {(Jacobs, lated 2719780
and cbnversation wi£h Alfred Wen ) indicated that the onlv ground distur-
bance would take place in limited portions (see :ians) of the bascments of
the buildings fronting on Coenties Slip. Installation of an elevator and
two chutes in an existing air shaft and structural repairs to facades would
cause.£hi§ disfnrbance. Optinally, archaeological testing should have taken
place in these areas. However, the consulting architect, Theodore H. M,
Prudon, thought that the condition of these structures sade them unsafe for
‘excavation. Becnuse 64 Pearl Street was adjacent to the arez in™which the
greatest ground disturbance would occur and was structurally sound, the
test excavations were placed in the basement of this huilding.

The test excavations were first planned for Spring, 1979 as part of

a field metheds course being taught at Hunter College. However, due to

various problems, the project did not get unﬁerway until a vear later,

March 1980. At this time, it was no longer feasible to incorporate the
project into a field class. Therefore, excavation was carried out by a

crew of experienced archaeological excavators under the direction of Armold
Pickman. Dr. Nan A. Rothischjld was the principal investigator for this
project. The project was sponsored by the New York Landmarks Conservancy
and fuimded by the New York State Council on the Arts and a mat&hing grant-
«in-aid from fhe Historic Preservation Fund of the Department of the Interior.
(In New York Scate, the matching grant program is administered by the Divi-

sion of Historic Preservation within the State Office of Parks and Recreation.)

(2}
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Research Focus

It was considered appropriate to investigate the archaeological
deposits by means of séveral small test cuts, rather than excavation of
a large area. The latter approach could provide data on any earlier
structures present in the eastern half of the block or any sub-surface
archaeological features present in former backyvard areas. However, an
important consideration was thé need to preserve archaéblogical resources
in this Historic District which would not be ippacted by construction
under the existing restoration plans. Opening large excavation ar;as
did not seem justified given the relatively small area which would be
disturbed to any depth. We therefore decided to make the focus of the
project the nature of the fill itself. We believed that the small scale
excavations planned would provide this type of data.

Research questions asked of excavations such as these are somewhat
different from those considered for excavations which take place on
original ground surfaces. Siﬂce 64 Pearl Street is known to be built on
landfill, a series.of questions about the composition and nature of this
fill as well as the date or dates and processes of filling seemed most
significant. We also considered that two other types of cultural material
might be present on the site in addition to the fill. -Structural remains
of a .documented earlier building (and another which is more ambiguously
documented) on the site was one possibility. Another type of archaeological
deposit would consist of builder's trenches, trash heaps and other concentra-
tions of matérial from the existing or earlier structures, The excavations

were designed to recover information from all three types of cultural remains,

as discussed below.

A number of specific questions were considered which we hoped to answer

(3)



~F

by means of these excavations. Some of these were related to the history
and morphology of the site: How many buildings existed on the site prior
to that bﬁilt in 18587 What was the extent of the structure known to
predate the one built in 1858 and when was it built? When was the fill
deposited? How was it deposited (was cribbing or any other special tech-
nique used)? Where, precisély, was the original shoreline?
Anthropological questians were also considered: What was daily life
like (as seen in the archaeological record) for inhabitants of this block
in the 17th century, and how has it changed through time? In particular,
are there changes in diet,'technology, trade or refuse disposal pétterns
(Bowen: 1978, Kardas and Larrabee 1972; Schiffer 1977) that can be ob-
served through analysis of material‘feCOVered from either fill or post-fill

deposits?

Archaeolcgical Significance of Fill Deposits

The pctential of fill as an archaeological resource is gradually

_ being realized (Salwen 1978). The influence of national and international

events (e.g. change from colonial tule and the opening of the Erie, and

. Delaware and Hudson canals) would be expected to affect archaeological

material found in fill or other deposits. The rate of adoption of innova-
tions (new ceramiclsty;es, nails and tools, for example) would also be
reflééted. One might expect such changes to occur more quickly in this
location at the very center of impurt-export shipping activity than in
outlying or rural areas (Salwen, Br:dges and Rothschild 1980). A cumula-
tive body of comparative material with which to answer such questioms is
gradually being gathergd by historical archaeologists while models for the
interpretation of these détaﬁére being developed (South 1977; 1878).

-
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Questions can be asked that are specific to the occurrencé of the
filling itself. Since the making of land by filling represents a statement
as to the value of the land, one can expect to see reflections of cultural
processes in the choice of areas to be filled. Land filling is a signal
that there is éoﬁething happening on, or projected for, the adjacent land.
Theoretically one should be able to determine the important activity centers
in a community by noting where the first land was ﬁade. In this case it is
significant that the first area to be filled in Manhattan was the two block
area'at the soﬁtherntip (Dukes Plan 1661; Miller Plan 1695), adjacent to the

heart of New Amsterdam and early New York, and the location of the first

“Town Hall, or .Stadt Huys.

The composition and sources of fill may raise other interesting ques-
tions. Fills are known to have been composed of a variety of materials,

including, at Liberty State Park, old locomotives. However, all laws of

‘common sense and energy conservation suggest that people will use the

closest available suitable material. It seems likely that some of the
earliest filling of the East River shoreline, which occurred in front of
the State House, came from an adjacent hill (Innes 1902). One may also
be able to infer‘broad cultural or social conditions from material found
in fill. For example, Kardas and Larrabee suggest that when fill has
little building debris in it, one can assume ”frontiér” conditiéns (1379).
This statement ma} be too simplistic; we need to know more of the whﬁle
cultural system of refuse dispésal practices before making such an assertion,
but hypothe;es such as these can be tested using fill and other supplementary
materiél.

The cultural material within fill represents an accumulation of
material from a given period of time in a given area. It is material

‘ - (8]
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without provenience, as material in a midden or dump is without provenience,
but it can be very informative if it can be dated and analyzed as "a slice

of 1ife' from a particular point in time and space.

Documentary History: Background

Before excavation, documentary research was undertaken for several
purposes, One was to place the -building inihistorical perspective, and to
consider the changing land use patterns in this area. The other was to
get as much detailed information as possible on land transfers, the number
of buildings on the lot over time, their sizes, functions, and any altera-
tions involving the basement or foundation.

Most of this research was done by Prudon § Burditt for the Historic
Structures Report (1979} prepared for the Conservancy as part of the New
York State Division of Historic Property requirements for restoration
funding. Some ﬁre—excavation documentary research was also done by
Roberts (i979). The two reports used a variety of primary and secondary
sourEes:‘ Stokes 61915—1928) and other similar compendiaz; New York City
Tax Assessments, Land Records, Department of Buildings Records, Minutes
of the Common Council, and Abstracts of Wills. Most of this information
has been summarized in thre Historic Structures Report. We will outline
it briefly, and describe that which is relevant to our research questions
and archaeological purposes in greater detail.

The southern tip of Manhattan was the focus of New Amsterdam. Fort
Amsterdam, most important commercial buildings (those of the West India
Trading Company), the Stadt Huys, and tﬁg greatest concentration of popu-
lation were all located ﬁithin three blocks of the tip (Castello Plan -1660).

A great deal has been written of the early development of New Amsterdam and

6) -
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New York (Albion 1939; Bridenbaugh 1968; Disturnell 1837; Cresson 1912;
Flick 1962; Harrington 1964; Lockwood 1976; Lossing 1884; Roter § Livesay;
1971; Wilson 1893; Van der Zee § Van der Zee 1978). Lower Manhattan
seems alwax; to have had at least a partially commercial function. In
the 17th century, both in New Amsterdam and New York, residential and
some commercial structures were found along Pearl Street; in the 18th
century, owners often lived above their businesses, while in the 19th-
century, either purely commercial buildings or structures combining a
series of apartments above a Eommergial main floor were common. )

The entire area was linked most closely to the developmgnt of
various forms of transportation. Even though Pearl Street was no loﬁger
on the water front after the 17th century shore line filling diseussed

below, it was still involved in activities related to commerce. In later

periods Pearl Street was particularly noted as a dry goods and hardware

‘center (Disturnell 1837:12-13).

Before 1820 the major foém of transport was by ship, and most shipping
was trans-oceanic (Johnson ms., n.d.:14)!" While shipping remained a domi-
nant activity after this time, much of it now related to domestic commerce
as well ag»trade with otker nations, especially during the War of 1812 and
after the opening of the Erie and the Delaware and Hudson canals in 1825
and 182§ (see Prudon § Burditt for a fuller discussion of these cvents).
Later events such as decreased trade during the Civil War, competition with
other shipping routes (on the Gulf and West coasts), and the development of
train transport affected the state of southern Manhattan as a port. The
volume of trade.was reduced, and the center of trans?ortation was shifted
to the West Side of Manhattan where 'practically every important railrcad

in North America has a terminal in New York . . . at the most desirable

(7)



locality" (Cresson 1912, cited in Prudon § Burditt 1979:9).*

This extensive development of the West‘Side of Manhattan continued
into the early 20th century. Thg Fast Side retained a pattern of mixed
land use until the late 1940's when it became dominated by New York's
financial district during a post-war period of affluence and construction

(Prudon § Burditt 1979:10).

Documentary Research: The 64 Pearl Street Lot

Subsequent to our archaeological excavations, we carried out additional
documentary research to supplement that contained in the historic structures
report. This provided a more complete picture of the history of the filling
of the lot.

Prior to 1686 the south side of what is now Pearl Street was the East
River shore line. The first indication of }and-filling*activities on the
block on which 64 Fearl St;;;t stands is provided in the Minutes of the
Common Council. Although not recorded until May 4, 1688, it was on September
15, 1686 that the ci*y survevors were ordered to survey and lay out lots,
"beginning ffrom ye'weigh house to ye Citty Hall . . . Eighty foot long into
the Dock and about four and twenty ffoot broad leaving sufficient space for
ye Street . . . also to lay out ye street Ranging with ye Here Graft M
(1905 vol., I:195-196, original spelling retained). The reason for the laying
out and sale of these léts was to raise money to pay the debts of the City
government” (Stokes 1:177, 1918}, .The desirability of this location is
reflected in the fact that inhabitants were wiliing to purchase these water
lots, which required filling, rather than move to available land further
uptown. (figure 1A

Although the Historic Structures Report states that '"there seems

oY
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to be no record of the owners to whom thege original lots {the water lots)
were.sold" (Prudon & Burditt 1979:4), we were able to locate the original
water lot grants in the City of New York Topographic‘Bureau. Six water
lots were sold between what is now Broad Street and Cbenties Slip. The
grants are dated November 19, 16386 except for the easternmost lot. The
latter grant is dated December 18, 1686. As reflected in the surveyors'®
orders referenced above, each lot was eighty feet in length, The east-
ernmost lot, granted to the Gﬁvernor, Thomas Dongan, and scld by him to
_Frederick Phillipse in 1688 was forty five feet- wide and‘waé bounded
"'on the west by the lott of Peter Jansen Messier, on the north by the
Streete {and) on the east by the vacant ground and wharfe before the City
¢RH311” (Grants of Land Under Water Liber A:12-13j. The land on which 64
Pearl Street gow stands was granted, therefore, to the above mentioned
Peter Jansen Messier (usually spelled Mesier). The grant for this 28%
foot wide lot gives the eastern boundary as the lot granted to Thomas
Dongan, the western boundary as the lot granted to John Hedrix Bruyn,
and the qorthern boundary {as was the case with all the grants) as ''the
Streete'' (Grants of Land Under Water Liber A:15-17).

We assumed that the eastern boundary of the Dongan lot as given in
the grant was coincident with the-pfesent western side of Coenties Slin.,
This assumption is supported by a modern map (Bromly 196¢1) which gives
the present lot sizes. The lot on the southwest corner of Coenties Alley
;nd Pearl Street has a Pearl Sﬁreet frontage of 45" 11", eleven inches
greater than the original water lot. The next three lots to the west
have the samé 28% foot frontage. The two lots closest to Broad Street
are i 3/4 foo{ smaller and % foot greater, respectively, than the original

water lot frontages. Since the 17th century and modern boundaries of these

' (9}



six lots are practically the same, we can say with reasonablg certainty that
the original grantee of the 64 Pearl Street lst was Peter Jansen Mesier.

Each water lot grantee supposedly filled his own lot (Prudon § Burditt
1978; Kardas-and Larrabee 1977:22). The water lot grants do not contain
any specific requirements for the individual owners to fill the lots. How-
ever, subsequent water lot grants do have such requirements. In addition
the Minutes of the Common Council (1905 vol. 1:225) for June 14, 1691
record an order to the owners of the water lots to Ffill up "all Vacant
holes and Spaces."

The first structure recorded on the block was built by Frederick
Phillipse, probaﬁly on the lot at the corner of Pe?rl Street and Coenties
Slip, which he acquired from Governor Dongan. An entry in the Minutes of
the Common Council dated August 4, 1688 (1905 vol. 1:200) orders him to

build his house '"Square upon the Wharfe . . . the Said house is to be built,

twenty ffive foote. broad: r;unding twenty ffive foote to the 0l1d Dock."

We have no firm evidence about the transfer of title to the lot on
which 64 Pearl Street now stands immediately subsequent to Mesier's purchase
of the water lot. Hcwever, we do know that by 1700, the lot had been
purchased by Frederick Phillipse, who also owned the adjacent Iot to the
éasftﬁand that a house stood on the lot by this date. Frederick Phillipse's
will, dated October ‘26, 1700, left the 64 Pearl Street property and the
house standing on it to his son Adolphus Phillipse (Pelletreau 1892:369-374).
The sketch by P.E. du Simitiere of about 1769 shows what is probably this

building next to the original house built in 1689 by Frederick Phillipse on
the corner lot (see illustration 11, Coenties Slip Historic Structure Report).

Therefore, the first structure on the 64 Pearl Street lot was probably construct-

ed between 1689 and 1700.

Before continuing with the history of the 64 Pearl Street lot it is

11y
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" wifh’ Stevanus van Cortlandt, an original water 1ot purchaser) was not améng ™

important to discuss the extension of the water lots which took place in

1692. On November 26, 1691, the Common Council ordered that water lots

be sold which would extend the eighty foot lots previously sold an addi-
tional 25 feet into the dock (Minutes of the Common Council 1905 vol.1:256).
The owners of the existing lots were to have rights of first refusal on
these 25 foot extensions. The width of the extension lots as given in the
grants indicates that the water-lot extending the one originally purchased
by Peter Mesier was bought by Jacobus (van) Cortlandt (Grants of Land Under
Water, Liber A)l This suggests the possibility that Cortlandt had“bought
the Mesier property prior to the sale of the extension lot;f although it

is possibie that Mesier still owned the northern property and. declined to
exeréiée his right of purchase. The former interpretation is strengthened,
however, by the fact that in October 1691, prior to the sale of the 25

foot -extension lots, a report to the Council noted that "Mr. Cortlandt" was

.among those having failed to complete his wharf fronting "% Lott" (Minutes

of the Common Council (1905 vol. I:251). Since Cortlandt (not to be confused

the original water lot grantees, it is likely that he had purchased the
original water lot from Musier prior to its acquisition by Phillipse. A
transfer of land between Jacobus (van) Cortlandt and Phillipse would not be
surprising in view of the fact that the former was Phillipse's son-in-law
(Pelletreau 1894 vol. 1:369-374},

Sometime subsequent to the entering of Frederick Philiipse's will for

‘probate in 1702, and prior to 1740, his son, Adolphus, must have transferred

the property to his brother-in-law Jacobus van Cortlandt, because the latter's™

will transfers the present Lot 25 (64 Pearl Street - 34 Water Street) to his

daughter Mary, married to Peter Jay (Pelletreau 1894 vol. III:307-310}. If

(11)
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our assumption that Mesier sold the land to van Cortlandt is correct and |,
if Pelletreau correctly identified the property left by Frederick Phillipse
to his son Adolphus as 64 Pearl Streset, then it seems that the property
was transferred from the van Cortlandt family to the Phillipse family and
back again.

Three other transfers of the building and its site-took place before
the present building was constructed. Iﬂ 1789 the Jay heirs sold the property
to Bernardas Swartwout {(N.Y.C. Land Records, Liber 46:105) whb sold it only
two months later to Leomontis Noe (N.Y.C. Land Records, Liber 45:552)}, Finally
in 1856 the Noe heirs sold the property to Harry Seymoﬁr and Malvin C. Burrell
(N.Y.C. Land Records, Liber 714:377-386).

A second duilding may have replaced the 17th century structure erected
by Frederick Phillipse prior to the 1858 comstruction of the present building.

‘The building shown in the du Simitiere sketch was probably also demolicshed

in the late 1820's or early 1830's and replaced by a brick structure. Tax-

assessment records for the property show an escalation in value ($3,000
between 1829 and 1830) similar to that assessed on other properties in the
block when new buildings were erected. Contemporary descriptions of thc
area further confirm that by the 1830's virtuallr all of the 'Dutch style’
buildings had been demolished* (Prudon § Burditt 1579:20, based on Disturnell
1837:12). The 1858 building was probably considerably larger than the pre-
vious structure on this lot because the tax assessment figures went frem
$15,500 (§8,000 for 64 Pearl Street and $7,500 for 34 Water Street) to
$28,000 (New York City Assessment Records).

No known major structural changes felevant to our archaeological
findings were made subsequent to construction. Many transfers of ownership

and some changes in the use of the building occurred in the years subsequent

X4
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a deptk of 63 inches below the surface of the‘ﬁasement floor. This test
}ielded eleven inches of medium brown sand'and black sandy silt and five
additional inches of black and brown mottled sandy silt. The black and
mottled soil yielded faunal material, including mammal and fish bone, fish
scales and oyster and mussel shell fragments, as well as small pieces of
wood, mortar and plaster fragments. Fourteen small pieces of leather and
a nail fragment were also recovered. Between 43 and 56 iﬁches another
layer of sterile; reddish brown sandy soil was -encountered. At 56 inches,

a stratum of silty clay containing wood and shell fragments was encountered

and at a depth of 63 inches what appeared to be a large beam prevénted
further excavation with the post hole auger.

A third auger test was placed toward the rear of the lighted area,
approximately 70 feet from the front of the basement. This test encountered
dark brown sand to a depth of 38 inches beneath the basément floor. At this
depth a layer of black silty soil was encountered and tested to a depth of
48% inches. It'was.not'posSible to test beyond this depth because the post
‘}ﬂ%1“"$”h.héfE'SﬁQETWWAé blocked by 'a dense deposit of lafge oyster shells: This
test produced a greater yield of artifacts and faunal material than auger
test #2. Most of the material came from the blacl silty soil below 38
inches. Artifacts included bottle glass, a wrought pail, pipe stems, a ceramic
fragment and a marble. Yellow brick, red brick, mortar, and wood fragments
were also present. The deposit also contained fish and bird bone, fish scale,
oyster shell fragments and whole valves, and a few clam shell fragments.

The results of the preliminary auger testing suggested that the fill
h‘deposits may have been stratified and that at least one stratum-contained

substantial concentrations of organic material and artifacts. Also, there

appeared to be variability in the density of material in the areas tested.

(14)



to its construction. However, the listed occupants were mainly merchants

with the exception of a hotel which remained in business for only a year

(N.Y.C. Directories and Assessment Records).

II
FIELD METHODS

Prior to the conduct of the test excavafions in the basement of 64
Pearl Street, we decided to place a number of auger holes in order to obtain
preliminary information as to the nature, depfh and variability of archaeo-
logical deposits. In general we concéntrated on the east side of the base-.
ment since the area of greatest planned disturbance in the basement of 1
Coenties Alley would occur closest to that part of the 64 Pearl Street
basement.

The auger holes were made with a variety of.tools. A jackhammer was
used to break up'the thick basement floor. As discussed below, this proved
e e o AT PETenTE Task™ " 07 the Brick aid contete was removed, ‘a two
person, six inch diameter gasoline motor driven power auger was used to
extend the tests another foot or so until the auger's maximum depth was
reached. A four inch diameter, hand driven post hole auger was used to
further extend the depth of the test holes.

Auger test #1 was placed 4’5 feet west of the east wall and apéroxi-
.maéely 7 feet from the ffont of the basement, After penetrating only some
five inches below the basement floor, this test encountered large rocks
which prevented further excavation. Therefore, we placed auger test #2

further from the east wall and closer to the front of the basement at the .

northern edge of the lighted area. We were able to test at this location to
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Therefore, we decided to place test excavations near the locations of
auger tests #1 and #3 in order to more accurately and extensi;ely test
the fill deposits at these locations. Test cut (TC) A (figure 2) was located to
the scuthwest of auger test #2, This test measured 4 by 4 feet at the
surface, of the basemeﬁt floor, although, as indicated by the profile
drawings, the actual size of the excavation below the floor was slightly
smaller than this. TC C was located at the same location as auger test
#3. The éuger test was enlarged to make the test cut, which measured 3
by 3 feet. The auger test was thus present in the south portion of the
test cut. All debris which filled the auger test as the floor was broken
up for the test cut was carefully removed and discarded as each stratum
was excavated.

We_suspected that the rocks which prevented us from conducting auger
test #1 may have been part of an architectural feature. Therefore, TC B was
placed at the auger test loéé;}on in order to expose any such feature. TC B
measured 5 feet by 3 feet at the surface of the basement floor, with the long
dimension running north to south. However, below a depty of 38 inches the
dimensions of the test.were redqced by about a foot in the north-south direc-
tion and about 6 inches east-west in order to support several large rocks

which were protuding into the square.

TC B1 is an extension of TC B. The southernmost 2 feet of the latter
excavation were extended 3 feet to intersect the east wall of the Easement.
This extension was made to expose the foundation of the present structure
and to detect any possible underlying architecture.

Each test cut was excavated by “natural" strata. Where a stratum was

more than 4 inches in thickness each 4 inch level within the stratum was

excavated separately. All of the soil (with one exception) removed from
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each level was screened through % inch mesh. ‘Because the time allotted for

excavation was approaching an end, only 50% of the soil removed from one of

the levels in TC C was screened. All artifacts, vegetal and faunal materials

recovered were bagged separately for each level.

The upper '"strata" of each tes£ actually consistednbf the basement
floor of the building, which is discussed in the following chapter. This
floor was broken up using a jackhammer, and the loose b?ick, mortar and
other materials . shoveled out of the square. Samples of these materials
were taken, however, and are available for analysis. All other soil was

&
shoveled out of the test cuts and screened. Large concentrations of mortar

~and brick from below the floor, and coral from TC B, were weighed, sampled

and discarded in the field. All of the bagged artifacts and vegetal and
faunal materials were removed from the site to the laboratory. Appenﬁices ;
to this report present in tabular form the résults of the analyses of these
materials.

. b;on the-completion of éxcavation, ﬁrofile; were drawn of all four

walls ‘of ‘éach test cut. “Small soii samplés were takeén from the various

strata of each test cut. Additional, larger samples were taken for flotation

from those strata which yielded substantial zuounts of organic material. .
Several unique problems not us:ally faced by archaeologists were en-
countered in the conduct of this project. The East River occupied the locus
of the tests in the 17th century. The present surface of the basement floor
is now approximately 5 feet below the surface of Pearl Street. The bottom
of our test cuts was thus some 11 feet below Pearl Street and near the
present water table. Fortunately, until the end of the excavations water

was only a minor problem. The water which seeped slowly into the test cut

was periodically removed by using a small electric pump. Pumping was facili-
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tated by first excavating a corner of the test cut to a given excavation
level. This corner then acted as a "sump'" into which the pump was'loweredi
Pumped wéter was discharged by hose onto Water Streét. Shortly before the
end. of the project, however, drainége following a very heavy rainstorm re-
sulted in a rapid accumulation of water in the test cuts, with a foot to a
foot and a half of water accumulating in an unpumped sqﬁare, necessitating
more frequent pumping. Fortunately, most of the excavation work was com-
pleted when this occurred.

- Another problem was created by the need to "water screen" some of the
soil removed ffom theufesf cuts becalse the damp organic soil tended to
adhere to materials in the soil matrix, making the identifica£ion of
artifacts and floral and faunal remains difficult. After loose soil
passed through-the screen in the usual manner and large items were Temoved,
the remaining material‘was‘washed to remove the adhering soil. In addition,
each test cut contained a stratum of silty clay, as discussed in the
following chapter. Artifacts and other materials were embedded in this
clay; ‘Which would not pass through the screen. A strong ‘jet of water ~
was used to ''blast" the clay through the screen, leaving the artifacts,
stoneé and other material.

In order to accomplish this water screening, a hose was Tun into
the basement from a hydrant on the corner of Water Street and Coenties
Alley. A 50-gallon steel drum was placed at some distance from the test
cuts so tha£ spilled wa&er would not drain into the excavations. Soil
was wet gcreened over the drum, with an electric pump in the drum pumping
the water out to Water Street and into the New York City storm sewer

system. Both water and soil were washed through the screen into the

drum and dirt accumulated at the bottom of the drum. We found that ele-
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vating the pump a foot or so above the bo?tom of £he drum with cinder
fblocks-avoidéd cloéging the pump, and the soil which accumulated on the
bottom of the drum was periodically dumped out. This below.ground level
water screening system worked quite well although rain gear was needed
by theose doing the screening.

The other difficulty involved in this project was due to the fact
that the excavation took place in March. The combination of chilly temper-
atures and water screening cfeated considerable discomfort for the excava-
tion crew. This was alleviated to some extent by using a large kerosene
heater. Although there was ventilation in the basement, t;e heater had to

be used sparingly to avoid a build-up of noxious fumes in the confined

space.

i1l

TEST EXCAVATIONS - STRATIGRAPHY

Test Cut A (figure 3)

The topmost 24-25 inches of all of the test cuts consisted of the
basement floor of 64 Pearl Street. Its const:uction is the same at all
of the locations tested and will be described here. The topmost 11-12
inches of the basement floor consist of three courses of brick laid }n
mortar. Sample bricks measured 2% x 3%" x 8". Mortar underlies the
third course of brick and immediately below is a layer of asphalt or tar,
% to % inch thick, followed by avlayer of slate, 1/8 to % inch thick.
Beneath the slate, a thick layer of concrete extends about a foot to a
depth of 24-25 inches.

It is probable that the thick concrete layer topped with slate-repre—
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sents the original basement floor of the present mid-19th century building.
The thickness of the concrete may be related to the depth of fhe basement
and its consequent dampness and poésible water seepage. The layer of tar
and three brick-courses were probably added at a later date and most

likely represent an additional effort to deal with the problems of dampness
and seepage.

Immediateiy beneath the concrete, a thin layer of light brown sand
containing a large quantity of brick, wood, mortar and other rubble was
excavated. This could represent the remains of an earlier floor or rubble
from_the demolition of an earlier structure on this location. The presence
of machine cut nails and the absence of wire nails in this rubble indicates

an early nineteenth century deposition. Another layer of mottled light and

* darker brown “sandy-$ilt'underlay this lighter-soil. '+Dateable artifacts. -« ...

-include early 19th century types, such as a whiteware sherd, and a sherd of

earlier delftware.
Beneath the early 19th century debris, the earlier fill was encountered.
All of the dateable artifacts -associated with this material.are consistent

with a late 17th century deposition. A layer of brown sandy silt began at

. a depth of approximately 26 to 30 inches and extended to a depth which sloped

downward from approximately 38-46 inches in the north part of the squaré to
approximately 53-56 inches in the south.- This material contained few arti-
facts and comparatively little architectural debris {e.g. brick, mortar,
stone), faunal or vegetal material. At the base ofithis stratum we encountered
what appeared to be a layer of black silty sand witﬁ dark brown mottling which
began in the northeast cornér of the test cut and sloped downward to the

south. This stratum contained a considerable amount of organic material and

artifacts. Upon examination of the test cut profiles we realized that the -
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soil below the semi-sterile medium brown silt did not represent a single
mottled stratum. Rather, there were several lenses and pockets consisting
of essentially three types of soil. A lens of éark brown-~-black silt was
present in the north wall of the test and it may have been this soil thch

yielded the dark organic material sampled by auger test #2. In the north

wall of the test cut, the brown-black scil was overlain by a mottled layer

" and underlain by a lens of medium brown sandy silt similar to the uppermost

layer of fill, The lenses of dark brown-black and medium brown soil only
extended 1 - 1% feet south of the north wéil and the remainder of-£He test
cut consisted of the mottled soil. That these distinctions were not noted
as we excavated was probably due, at least in park, to the relatively poor
artificial lighting under which the excavations were conducted.

The deﬁosits of fill ended at a depth of 56-61 inches. At fhig point,
a deposit of gray silty clay was encountered, sloping downward slightly

toward the south. This stratum undoubtedly represents the 17th century

bott@mwa the East River. The clay contained fewer artifacts than the

bverl§§ﬁ§ﬂ¥§iiiwbﬁ%lféiatibelf more shell, brick, and wood including’a
number of large boards, planks, rocks and large pieces of brick. A large

plank ran diagonally across the southwest corner of the test cut at a

.depth of 63- inches, slightly below the top of the clay. We drew a plan

view of this debris before removing it, but no patterning was noted. The

i

clay in TC A was 5-8 inches thick.

Because this was the first of the test excavations to reach the base
of the clay, we continued the excavation another 11-16 inches. The soil
consisted of various lenses and pockets of gray, brown and gray-brown
mottled soil varying in texture from clayey silt to silty sand. Only one

artifact and some debris and faunal material was recovered from the top
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of this soil with the final levels yielding only a few shell and brick
fragments. From the bottom of the test cut at 79 inches, we used a post
hole auger to probe an additionaly 30% inches. The soils éﬁcountered were
sterile and appeared to be similar to those encountered in the final éxca-
vated levels. The material below the clay seems to represent various

strata of the original Tiver bottom.

Test Cut B (figure 4,5)

Beﬁeath the basement floor, we excav;teq a thin layer of ligh£ brown
silty sand containing mortar and rubble. This layer did not show clearly
in the profiles, however, and could be interpreted as a mixture of crumbling
coucrefe from the base of the conciete layer combined with brick chips from
the breaking up of the basement floor. Howevér, two nail fragments were
excavated with this layer, along with thg mortar, wood and brick and shell
fragments. This indicates that the deposition of this material probably
occurred before the pouring of the concrete floor, possibly in connection
with the hypothesized 1829-30 building noted in Chapter I. Beneath the
light brown sandy soil a thin, ]l inch layer of dark brown sandy silt overlay
a layer of rocks encountered at a depth of 76-29 inches. The dark brown
soil above the rocks contained six diagnostic ceramic sherds which date the
deposition of this soil to the early 19th century. Thus it is not part of
the 17th century fill. It should be noted that the top of the rock layer is
at approximately the same depth as the top of the fill deposits excavated in
TC A and C. |

We. excavated two courses of dry laid stones with a third course present
in most of the test cut. It was these stones which prevented the completion

of the auger test at this location.
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Each stone course was excavated separately and the soil which lay )
between and beneath the stones was screened separately for each course.
The soil matrix among the stones was similar in color and texture to the
soll immediately overlying Fhe stones. Some lighter colored soil was also
present beneath some of the stones. Artifacts present in the soil matrix
surrounding the stones suggest the probability that their deposition pre-
dates the 19th century constructicn episodes represented by the current
basement floor and the>under1ying Tubble layer. Diagnostic artifaqts include
three delftware sherds and é wrought naii. In addition, a white shell
tubular "wampum' bead was found beneath one of the stones in the first .
course. This may indicate an early, probahly 17th .century, deposition
of these stones. The base of the stone courses occurred at a depth of
32-36 inches, It should be noted that in TC A, a mottled layer occurred
immediately benéath the light sand. at 26-32. inches. In TC C a lens of dark

brown sandy silt was encountered immediately below the light brown sand at

' 26-28 inches. It is possible that rather than being a part of the fill,

““these soils may hébé'bééﬁfdéﬁﬁsiféiwdﬁfiﬁiltﬂé“iéﬁé later event which led

to the deposition of the stones and the surrounding dark soil in TC B.

It does not appear likely that the ciones were deposited as part of
the filling process. They appeared to be deliberately laid, rather than
being piled up hapha%ardly. The stones in the second and third courses
appeared to be, in general, larger than those in the first course. The
possible function of these stones could have been as part of a walkway,
yard, basement floor or wall of an earlier structure. The latter appears
unlikely, however, because maximum thickness of the three stone courses
was only some 10 inches and the presence of smaller stones.in the top

course indicates that this is not the base of a higher wall.
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l Although the elevation of the original East River shore line remains
uncertain, it is likely that the original surface of the 17th century fill
was it a higher elevation thaﬁ that at which it was encountered in the
basement of 64 Pearl Street. It is likely that later construction episodes
removed the to;.) of the fill. An early stone walkway or other exterior area
would have been laid on top of the original fill and thus subsequently
removed. The most likely explanation is that the stones are part of the
basement floor of an early structure at this location.
During excavation we remofed-those stones which were not deeply
imbedded in the wall of the test cut. One large stone in the south wall
and several in the north wall of TC B did not appear to be removable.
These remained projecting into the test. We did not undercut these stones
in the interest of safety. As noted in the previous chépter, this somewhat
: rgdu_ced the site of the excavated area. After the loose stones were removed,
additional stones were noted in the south and north walls of the test cut.

4 I . RN .
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I ﬁowever, there were only a few stones piesent in the east wall and none in
S e west wall.™ The ‘sxcavation of T¢ BY confirmed” that TC B practidally coin-""
I cided with the eastern boundary of the stones. However, as discusséd below,
there are indications that stones to thc east were removed when the currently
I standing structure was erected in the mid-19th century. To further determine
- l the extent of the feature, we probed into the walls of the test cut with a
12 inch long surveyors pin subsequent to excavation. Probing in the south
l wall between the visible rocks indicated that additional stones were present
at a depth of 3-4 inches. Probing in the east wall of TC B indicated that
l the feature did not, in fact, extend any further to the east. Probing in
I
1
i

the west wall indicated that additional stones were present in the southern-

most 26 inches of the west wall only. No stones were detected north of this.
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This would tend to weaken the interpretation of the stones ig an early ~
ba§ément floor, unless 19th century construction at this site résulted
in removal of stones to the west as well as to the east of the test éut
loca£ion. The recovery of a 19th century wire nail from the area -in the
west wall from which the stones were missing (discussed further in Chapter
IV) indicates that such disturbance did, in fhct, occur.

Beneath the stones; we encountered the fill deposits preseﬁt in the

other tests. To a depth of 45-53 inches, the fill consisted of dark brown

séndy silt. In most of the test cut this was mottled with a dark black, clayey

. soil, but lenses of unmottled soil were also present. This material was

excavated as stratum IV. A lens of heavily mottled brown sandy silt in the

south part of the square was excavated separately as stratum V. .Beneath

this, a 2-8 inch thick layer of darker, grayish-black silty sand was en-
countered. The gray clay siratum began at a depth of 54%-60 inches in
TC B. The deposit was 10-]6"5;Ehes thick in this test cut, thicker than
in TC A but not as thick as in TC C. As in TC A, the gray clay contained
larger pieces of debris than the overlying fill. In addition to Tocks and
bricks, the TC B claygstratum yielded 10 large pieces of coral, weighing
93, pounds, in addition to smaller fragments. There was only one board
present in TC B unlike the c¢lay stratum in TC A. The clay deposit in TC B
differed from that iﬂ the other tests in that it yvielded a substantial
number of artifacts as well as architectural debris, shell, and vegetal and
faunal material.

We excavated the southwest corner of the test cut an additional 5-6
inches in order to sample the gray-brown silty sandvﬁhich underlay the cla&.

This .s0il yielded some brick and mortar and tile fragments and a pipe stem

as well as shell fragments and soft shell clam valves.
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Test Cut B1 (figure 5,6}

| TC B1 was an extension of TC B eastwa;d,abuttingthe foundation of the
present structure. Its primary purpose was to acquire information about the
sequence of construction at this location. The brick basement floor extends
to the east wall of the building. Four additional brick courses, only one
course wide, were laid in tar or asphalt against the wall above the level of
the cellar floor. This is another indication that the brick addition to the
floor was an attempt to seal the basement against dampness and seepage. The
concrete underlying the brick was poured over the f&undation stones which
extended westward from the wall. The layer of brown sand with mortar under-
lying the concrete appeared to overlay the foundation stones indicating that
this material was spread after the foundation was built., It contained one
sherd of an early 19th century ceramic type.

Beneath the concrete and the sand/mortar layer, we encountered a brown

and tan mottled soil with inclusions of clayey silt to a depth of 33-34
inches with a pocket of darker soil near the foundation. All of ‘this soil
represented the trench dug during the construction of the foundation. Several
sherds of whiteware and soft paste porcelain indicate a deposition during the
mid-19th century, consistent with the “nown date of construction of the
present structure. The bottom of the stratum yielded some earlier material,
two delftware sherds and a Dutch '"belly bowl" pipe. This was probably part
of the original fill which was excavated for the wall "trench" and.redeposited
after the construction of the fouridation. To a depth of approximately 34
inches, therefore, all of the soil to a distance of 2%-3 feet west of the
foundation wall was deposited during its construction. This construction
involved removal of the stones which constituted the floor or walkway dis-

cussed above and any of the earlier fill which may have been adjacent to or
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beneath these stones.

To this depth, the foundation consisted of layers of small building
stones which are seated on very large foundation stones. A large foundation
stone exposed by TC B1 was nearly 2 feet in length. Earth settling left an
empty space several inches in width ben;ath thiz stone. This space enabled
us to measure the width of tke stone at 38 inches. It thus ran beneath and

supported the entire wall. It is possible that some of the stones used in

constructing the foundation may have been those removed from the earlier

feature exposed by TC B.

B

Below an approximate depth of 34 inches, the stratigraphy iq\the
westernmost part of TC B1 is a continuation of that in TC B, Brown sandy
silt with darker mottling and lenses of brown sandy silt overlie a darker
brown silt with the gray clay beneath Fhe latter stratum.

In the eastern portion of the test, the wall trench continued down-

ward. We excavated this trench separately, undercutting the wall slightly

to determine the method of foundation construction. Below the large fBE%Eﬁg

“stones mentioned above, thé trefich had apparéntly béen filled with mortdr=-“-++ v

and brick fragments with brown sand present. in some places immediately. below
the stones. About 3 inches below thz: large footing stone we engguntered the
top of a round wooden post 7 inches in diameter. Or the south side of the
post mortar with brick fragments was packed against the post to a depth of
44 inches, The south wall profile indicates that from 34 to 44 inches, the
wall trench extended to a point only 16 inches from the wall, with the
earlier fill strata continuing west of this pointl A board was apparently
placed flat against the side of the fill in the west wall of the trench to
support the mortar. At 44 inches the dark brown silty sand stratum noted

in TC B and the western pari of TC B1 continues beneath the wall trench.
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North of the post, the trench was filled with mertar to a depth of .
40 inches, with another sizeable rock present among the mortar. The place-
ment of this rock to f£ill the excavated trench and anchor the mortar and
the fact that the trench was several inches shallower on this side apparently
eliminated the need to place a board against the side of the trench as noted
on the other side of the post.

- The dark soil containing mortar which comprised the wall trench fill
was screened separately below the level of the footing stones to Qgtermine
whether the post and the mortar supporting it may have been associated with
earlier construction and rZused for the existing building. This portion of
the wall trench yielded two whiteware and ironstone. sherds, indicating an
early-mid-19th century deposition.

The brown and mottléd brown sand was excavated to a depth of 44-45
inches, At this depth, just above the darker brown sand layer, we confined
the excavation to the northernmost 1% feet of the test cut in order to
explore the ngfure of the wooden poéf by exposing one side of it. We ﬁro;‘

R o S T g T -7 TO SEnl T s b TS NtemgSu. o e the ot . Lt e S E A s el RRARENCES A
ceeded in this mammer in order to shorten the time needed for exéavation ORI AT

and also to minimize any possible weakening of the building support which

might have occurred if the entire post was exposed. So
The clay stratum was encountered at a depth of approximately 48-53

inches, sloping downward from east to west. The stratum was excavated to

a depth of 58-59 inches. A layer of mortar approximately 1-4 inches thick

was present at the top of the clay stratum--in the northeast corner of the

excavated area, ruﬁning under the foundation and abutting the wooden post.

Stratigraphic considerations indicate that this mortar is nof part of the

wall trench. Artifacts excavated from the sand and clay strata below the

~wall trench indicate that this material is part of the earlier fill and
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the mortar at this depth was probably deposited with this fill,

At 51 inches, concentric bands of brown and light brown sand appeared
to surround the post. A % inch band of light brown sand abutted the post
and another 2% inch band of brown sand surrounded this. At the base of
the excavated level, however, the clay surrounded the post. A piece of
coral in the clay was found teo be flush against the side of the post. The
stratigraphy and the <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>